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Hon Murray Cowper MLA

Minister for Training and Workforce Development; Corrective Services

12th Floor, Dumas House

2 Havelock Street

WEST PERTH WA   6005

Dear Minister,

In accordance with Section 54 of the Vocational Education and Training Act 1996 and Section 63 of the 

Financial Management Act 2006, we have pleasure in submitting for your information and presentation  

to Parliament, the Annual Report of C.Y. O’Connor Institute for the year ending 31st December 2012.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Vocational Education and Training Act 1996.

Eileen O’Connell

Chair, Governing Council

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 

15 March 2013

John Scott

Managing Director

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 

15 March 2013
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Once again, it is with a considerable degree of 
satisfaction that I reflect on the broad range of 
achievements of the Institute during 2012. 
Vocational education and training has a key 
contribution to the economic and social 
development of the central Wheatbelt region and I 
believe that the Institute continues to be a 
significant stakeholder in this regard.

I note the key directions contained within the 
Institute Strategic Plan are consistent with the mission 
and vision of the Institute, exemplified by the release 
during the year of a People Development 
Framework, Workforce Development Plan and the 
first draft of the Access and Equity Strategy. I was 
particularly appreciative of the diligent approach to 
implementing the Strategic Plan, with regular 
reporting to Council of progress achieved against 
the key performance indicators.

During the course of 2012, the Governing Council 
held alternate, scheduled meetings in Brookton, 
Bruce Rock and Cervantes, as part of a deliberate 
strategy to engage with sub-regional communities. 
This was a successful initiative as it provided the 
opportunity for Council members to receive direct 
feedback on how the Institute was meeting the 
needs of local communities.

The Governing Council firmly believes in the power 
of vocational education and training to make a 
profound difference to the lives of individuals and to 
the broader society. For these reasons, the Council 
commissioned the writing of A Statement of Ethics, 
Values and Commitments. This document, which 

Eileen O’Connell | Chair, Governing Council

CHAIRPERSON’S REPORTOVERVIEW

can be accessed via the Institute’s website, is a 
unifying statement intended to affirm the aspirations, 
high ideals and principles applied to the professional 
practices of the Governing Council.

Turning now to the Institute, the re-structuring of the 
organisation was further enhanced by each 
Regional Director taking academic leadership of a 
portfolio of courses during the year, which positions 
us well for the implementation of a demand-driven, 
student entitlement system in 2014. Due in part to a 
more devolved academic leadership model, the 
Institute has recorded its highest ever enrolments this 
year - now over 728,500 student curriculum hours 
including non-Profile delivery, and edging closer to 
the aspirational target of 1,000,000 hours.

Without compromising its very strong focus on 
vocational training, the Institute has continued to 
explore with partner universities, the delivery of 
higher education programs as commercial activity 
from the Muresk Institute. By the end of the year, 
negotiations were well-advanced on delivering a 
higher level qualification in Agribusiness, in support 
of the Minister’s vision for Muresk to retain its iconic 
status as a centre of excellence in the delivery of 
agricultural education. In parallel, by the end of the 
year, negotiations were also well-advanced with 
respect to the delivery of a Bachelor of Education 
(Primary) in the Wheatbelt from 2014. In the 
meantime, the Institute delivered a tertiary pathway 
program at Muresk in the form of a Certificate IV in 
Agribusiness.

It was pleasing to note the progress achieved during 
the year in relation to the new, single-site campus for 
servicing the southern Wheatbelt region, centred on 
Narrogin. Agreement has been reached with the 
Town of Narrogin to make the land available; and 
the Business Case for the investment required is now 
with Treasury. There is still no news on the outcome of 
the application via the Regional Priorities Round of 
the Education Investment Fund for funding to 
establish a multi-purpose trade training centre for 
the Merredin campus. Perhaps a victim of our own 
success, the students in the Civil Construction 
program delivered at the Northam campus 
uncovered evidence of asbestos contamination 
early in the year - later assessed to be at the very 
low end of the scale - and subsequently most of the 
undeveloped part of the campus is now subject to 
remediation works.

The Institute continued to score very highly in the 
independent assessment of the level of student 
satisfaction - 92.7 per cent - some six percentage 
points above the State average. This is attributed to 
our expert staff who are passionate about teaching 
and learning, and creating a highly supportive 
student experience. Examples of where we 
particularly excelled are:
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insofar as delivery of Profile training, with 
achievement of 627,058 student curriculum hours, 
plus an additional 101,444 hours of non-Profile 
delivery which, in itself, was double the level 
achieved in 2011.

a tertiary pathway program at the Muresk Institute;

Prior Learning project;

Small Business Management and the Certificate III in 
Financial Services programs to students incarcerated 
within Acacia Prison;

Education Support, Community Services, Wool and 
Local Government;

Institute as part of the Indigenous Training Support 
program. These projects covered all ages from 
Mums and Bubs to Civil Construction, and 
generated external revenue in the order of $532,000;

Prior Learning project in collaboration with the 
Department of Agriculture and Food WA and other 
State Training Providers. This project achieved over 
60,000sch;

III in Electrotechnology on scope, and subsequent 
endorsement by the Electrical Licencing Board;

training within the Institute, with the Certificate II in 
Hairdressing being delivered in Bindoon;

program, delivered at the Muresk Institute, in 
collaboration with Macmahon; and

licence training, with the lecturer delivering over 
16,000 hours of Profile and commercial training.

The Governing Council was saddened to receive a 
letter of resignation from Mrs Yvonne Green during 
the year. May I take this opportunity, on behalf of 
the Institute community, to thank Yvonne for her 
contribution to Council over the period of her 
appointment; and to welcome Dr Christine Storer to 
Council. I am looking forward to leveraging 
Christine’s experience and expertise in the higher 
education sector, much of which has been gained 
at the Muresk Institute.

In summary, the Council is well-justified to remain 
pleased with the growth and direction of the 
Institute during 2012, under the very capable 
leadership of Managing Director, John Scott and his 
Executive team. The investments made in a number 
of areas will position the Institute well for the 
implementation of a demand-driven, student 
entitlement system in 2014.

I thank my fellow members of Council for their 
contribution to the effective governance of the 
Institute during the year.
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It continues to be a privilege to lead a team of such 
highly dedicated professionals who have, once 
again, been independently assessed as having 
student satisfaction levels well-above the State 
average. This reassures me that the environmental 
factors within the Institute are close to optimal in 
terms of providing for a very positive teaching and 
learning experience for our students. This creates for 
us a competitive advantage which is important as 
the Institute prepares for the introduction of a 
demand-driven, student entitlement system in 2014.

2012 was, in many respects, a year of consolidation, 
however overlaid with several significant 
opportunities which, I am pleased to report, the 
Institute took maximum advantage of. As a result, the 
Institute experienced its best year ever in terms of 
Profile enrolments - 682,754 student curriculum hours 
- complemented by record levels of external funding 
- in the order of $1.3 million. Importantly, the Institute 
exceeded its Employment Based Training target (for 
apprenticeships and traineeships) by 16 per cent.

The Indigenous Training Support program provided 
the Institute with the opportunity to bid for external 
funding in the order of $532,000 to implement nine 
projects across the Institute in parallel. Arguably the 
most noteworthy project was the Civil Construction 
‘live works’ program delivered at the Muresk Institute, 
where 26 Aboriginal students completed a taster 
program over 12 weeks with 100 per cent retention.

The second significant opportunity involved the 
delivery of a highly successful Recognition of Prior 
Learning project in collaboration with the 
Department of Agriculture and Food WA and other 
State Training Providers, centrally managed by the 
Institute. This project attracted $300,000 in external 
revenue and achieved over 60,000sch.

The Institute was successful in achieving all priorities 
listed in the 2012 Business Plan. The provision of 
vocational education and training programs to 
sustain a skilled regional workforce was the overriding 
priority for the Institute, and several programs, 
including the Certificate IV in Agribusiness as a 
tertiary pathway, were delivered at the Muresk 
Institute. In addition, and as a commercial activity, 
the Institute collaborated with several Perth-based 
universities throughout the year to assess the 
feasibility of offering higher education qualifications 
at Muresk.

As part of the strategic direction to position the 
Institute as an open learning institution, the Open 
Learning and Development and Investment Plan was 
launched during the year. The Plan addresses a key 
performance indicator in the Institute Strategic Plan 
2012-2013, and will play a key role in developing an 
accessible learning environment underpinned by the 
application of innovative technologies and practices 
to support individual participation in education, 
training and workforce development. This was 
exemplified in the trades delivery where staff 
commenced using iPads to support the 
administration of assessment in the workplace. An 
important outcome arising from the implementation 
of the Plan was to publish (online) a catalogue of 
online programs that are offered by the Institute, 
including programs in Business and Business 
Administration; Children’s Services; Community 
Services; Education Support; Training and 
Assessment; and Health Services.

Investing in staff is critical to the success of most 
organisations and, early in the year, the People 
Development Framework was launched within the 
Institute. The primary focus of the Framework is to 
assist staff to understand the benefits of, and 
therefore embrace the concept of, a learning culture 
which will enable the Institute to further strengthen its 
position as a learning organisation. Allied to this was 
the release during the year of the Institute’s first 
Workforce Development Plan. A focus of the plan is 
attracting, building and retaining a skilled workforce, 
including staff in EEO categories. It was therefore 
pleasing to appoint a lecturer from the Aboriginal 
community in Moora to contribute to the delivery of 
the highly successful Leadership program at the 
Moora campus.

As a small, regional Institute it is important to diversify 
revenue streams as a risk mitigation strategy. In 2011, 
the Institute commenced international delivery in 
India in the form of an auspicing contract and, in 
2012, investigations commenced to leverage off this 
activity and attract further business of a similar 
nature with other institutions within that country. In 
parallel, negotiations have commenced with a 
global, Perth-based private training organisation to 
collaborate in attracting international students to the 
Muresk Institute with a focus on agribusiness studies. 
This is a medium term venture which is reliant on 

John Scott | Managing Director

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORTOVERVIEW
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education and training that reflects fair and 
reasonable opportunity and consideration for all 
students.

An important activity within the scope of the Access 
and Equity Strategy is to lift the unacceptably low 
level of adult language, literacy and numeracy to 
enable effective educational, labour market and 
social participation. Early in the year B Block at the 
Northam campus was re-purposed as the General 
Studies and Further Education Centre, and towards 
the end of the year the Terms of Reference for the 
Language, Literacy and Numeracy Advisory Group 
were endorsed. This Group is anticipated to provide 
leadership across the Institute to ensure that our 
students reach the appropriate benchmarks in these 
important foundational skills.

The Institute continues to achieve very solid 
outcomes in relation to Aboriginal education and 
training. The Aboriginal Skills Development Plan was 
updated to maintain its currency, with a major focus 
on increasing participation and completion rates for 
Aboriginal students. In addition, the Aboriginal 
Education, Employment and Training Committee 
was reinvigorated and is now holding regular 
meetings. Enrolments continue to rise, with 424 
Aboriginal people enrolling in 2012 - a 10.7 per cent 
increase over the level of enrolment in 2011. 
Importantly, the number of Aboriginal people 
enrolling in Certificate III level programs and above 
in 2012 was 12.14 per cent above the level in 2011. 
The Leadership program in Moora continues to have 
very strong enrolments, with 26 Aboriginal people 
enrolled - many of whom went on to enrol in other 
courses at the Moora campus. My congratulations 
to the lecturers involved as well as the Aboriginal 
Student Support team.

In summary, it is again very satisfying to see the 
Institute moving forward on so many fronts. 2012 was 
another very busy year, with the lecturing staff 
demonstrating great flexibility and agility in 
responding to the challenges of two major activities 
that overlaid the normal training program. The 
Institute is now well-prepared to address the 
challenges of operating within a demand-driven, 
student entitlement system. Furthermore, we are 
able to offer a differentiated service through a focus 
on open learning; and we understand that our 
consistently high levels of student satisfaction offer us 
a competitive advantage. From a business 
perspective, we remain in a strong market position.

Finally, I would like to again thank the Governing 
Council for their vision and support of the numerous 
capacity building activities that were undertaken 
during 2012. Together, we are ensuring the ongoing 
relevance of C.Y. O’Connor Institute.

establishing a tertiary pathway to higher education 
in agribusiness at Muresk.

One of the strategic drivers for the Institute is to 
expand pathways to tertiary education and 
employment by providing learning and educational 
outcomes as a tertiary institution. A major 
component of this activity is to develop articulation 
pathways from vocational training to higher 
education programs by establishing partnerships 
with universities. Good progress was made in 2012 in 
this priority area with an articulation agreement 
signed with Edith Cowan University (ECU), which 
maps all of the Diploma-level qualifications offered 
by the Institute to various undergraduate degree 
programs offered by ECU. Additionally, articulation 
pathways have been identified for the Certificate IV 
in Agribusiness program with three universities across 
Australia, including two in the eastern states. Late in 
the year the Institute signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding with the University of New England to 
facilitate further collaboration around articulation 
pathways.

The last priority area in the 2012 Business Plan 
concerned the issue of compliance with 
government legislation, policy and procedures. I am 
pleased to report that there were no breaches in this 
area, and the Institute made significant progress 
with the implementation of the Governance 
Framework.

Absolutely critical to successful outcomes in 
vocational training is the strength of the relationship 
with industry and the community. This was 
enhanced during 2012 by the establishment of two 
Industry Advisory Committees - one in Health and 
the other in Agribusiness. Together, these 
Committees, comprised of industry and community 
leaders, assist the Institute to ensure that its delivery 
in these two study areas is appropriately targeted 
and supported.

Partnerships are a very important in regional areas in 
terms of ensuring successful outcomes. One initiative 
that exemplifies this is the partnership formed with 
Directions, the Northam-based private training 
organisation, in the delivery of a career advisory 
service. This is a win-win arrangement whereby the 
Institute gains the capability to offer a career 
advisory service to enrolled students, and the 
Workforce Development Centre expands its reach 
into the community.

A significant proportion of students who enrol at the 
Institute come from equity groups. Consequently, an 
Access and Equity Strategy was commissioned to 
improve participation, retention and completion 
rates for Aboriginal students, students with 
disabilities, students from non-English speaking 
backgrounds, and youth at risk. The Plan 
demonstrates the Institute’s commitment to increase 
access to and be inclusive in the provision of 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARYOVERVIEW

2012 was, in many respects, a year of consolidation 

in which the focus was very much on implementing 

the strategic directions that were initially set in 2010: 

that is, to maintain the principal focus on the delivery 

of vocational education and training services; 

position the Institute to develop tertiary pathways, 

including the delivery of higher education where 

commercially viable; and to make the Institute more 

competitive in an increasingly contestable training 

market.

Operationally, training targets were met or 

exceeded, with enrolments in government-funded 

training at their highest level in the history of the 

Institute (682,754 student curriculum hours), made 

possible by the conduct of two significant, 

externally-driven programs: Indigenous Training 
Support and Building Stronger Rural Communities. 

Together, these programs attracted over $800,000 

and contributed to the achievement of a record 

level of external revenue of $1.3 million.

The re-structuring of the Institute was further 

enhanced during the year by each Regional 

Director taking academic leadership of a portfolio of 

courses and, where necessary, the hard decisions 

were taken to close some courses that were 

uneconomic. In combination, these measures will 

position the Institute well for the implementation of a 

demand-driven, student entitlement system in 2014.

Consistent with the emphasis within the Training WA 
Plan placed on supporting regional communities by 

expanding the range of publicly funded 

qualifications in regional areas, a number of new 

courses either commenced delivery or were brought 

on to scope (for delivery in 2013) during 2012: 

Certificate II in Security Operations; Certificate II in 

Hairdressing; Certificate III in Electrotechnology; and 

Certificate IV in Agribusiness - the latter course being 

delivered at Muresk as a tertiary pathway program. 

In addition, the Institute undertook a strategic audit 

for Aged Care delivery; and a re-accreditation audit 

for the Diploma of Enrolled Nursing.

As part of the strategic direction to position the 

Institute as an open learning institution, the Open 
Learning and Development and Investment Plan 

was launched during the year. The Plan addresses a 

key performance indicator in the Institute Strategic 

Plan 2012-2013, and will play a key role in developing 

an accessible learning environment underpinned by 

the application of innovative technologies and 

practices to support individual participation in 

education, training and workforce development. An 

important outcome arising from the implementation 

of the Plan was to publish (online) a catalogue of 

online programs that are offered by the Institute.

Good progress was made through the year in 

relation to expanding tertiary pathways, with an 

articulation agreement signed with Edith Cowan 

University (ECU), that maps all of the Diploma-level 

qualifications offered by the Institute to various 

undergraduate degree programs offered by ECU. 

Additionally, articulation pathways have been 

identified for the Certificate IV in Agribusiness 

program with three universities across Australia, 

including two in the eastern states. Late in the year 

the Institute signed a Memorandum of 

Understanding with the University of New England to 

facilitate further collaboration around articulation 

pathways to higher education programs specialising 

in precision agriculture.

Some important organisational development work 

was completed in three areas. The first involved the 

launch of the People Development Framework. The 

primary focus of the Framework is to assist staff to 

understand the benefits of, and therefore embrace 

the concept of, a learning culture which will enable 

the Institute to further strengthen its position as a 

learning organisation. The second piece of work 

involved the development of an Access and Equity 
Strategy. This strategy aims to improve participation, 

retention and completion rates for Aboriginal 

students, students with disabilities, students from 

non-English speaking backgrounds, and youth at 

risk. The third piece of work involved the launch of 

the Institute Workforce Development Plan, with a 

primary focus on attracting, building and retaining a 

skilled workforce.

Against this background of innovation, the Institute 

continued to perform at the forefront of State 

Training Providers (STPs) in the area of student 

satisfaction. Having been independently assessed as 

having the highest levels of student satisfaction of all 

STPs for three of the last four years, the Institute 

managed to maintain a high overall satisfaction rate 

of 92.7 in 2012 - some six percentage points above 

the State average - a remarkable achievement.

Overall, the work done on many fronts in 2012 will 

position the Institute well as it prepares for a re-

registration audit in 2013.
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ORGANISATIONAL OVERVIEWOVERVIEW

C.Y. O’Connor Institute has been providing 

vocational education and training services for the 

Wheatbelt region of Western Australia for 27 years. To 

enable service delivery across the 155,000 square 

kilometres of the region, the Institute has four major 

campuses strategically located at Northam, 

Narrogin, Merredin and Moora.

The Institute currently consists of four directorates 

which provide training services and support across 

the four campuses. The directorates are:

 Services.

Individually and collectively these directorates apply 

themselves to the development, implementation 

and support of a range of programs to meet the 

education and training needs of the region. These 

programs are delivered through engaging and 

partnering with the community, industry and 

individual business enterprises. The Institute offers 

multiple delivery modes to attract students from 

across the region, the state, the nation and 

internationally.

Office of the Managing Director

The Office of the Managing Director is responsible 

for providing administrative support to the 

Managing Director, Governing Council and the 

Executive Management Team. It also has 

responsibility for the marketing and promotion of the 

current and future activities of the Institute at the 

local, regional and state level. These and other 

services are delivered from the following business 

units:

Relations

Academic and Business Development

The Academic and Business Development 

Directorate is responsible for the delivery of 

government funded training and the identification, 

development and maintenance of commercial 

training to clients of C.Y. O’Connor Institute located 

within Australia. It undertakes the development and 

delivery of vocational education and training 

programs, including those that target and support 

the training and employment needs and aspirations 

of industry, business and the community across the 

region. A diverse range of staff deliver services and 

programs from the following regional business units:

ade Skills Delivery and Support.

The four campuses and directorates of C.Y. O’ 

Connor Institute provide a diversity of services 

including:

Learning (RPL);

apprenticeships;

training aligned with the Australian Quality Training 
Framework (AQTF); and

ork-based delivery and assessment.

Academic and Innovation

The Academic and Innovation Directorate is 

responsible for development and implementation of 

effective processes across the Institute’s academic 

planning and policy development activities. It 

provides a leadership role in the delivery of 

education and training initiatives; whole of Institute 

approach to delivery; adherence to quality 

frameworks; and support to the business 

development function. The directorate also has the 

primary responsibility for whole of Institute quality 

teaching and open learning programs; and 

supervises the vocational delivery in specified 

disciplines. In addition, it is responsible for the quality 

assurance of training delivery within the Institute and 

its compliance with the AQTF. These and other 
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services are delivered from the following business 

units:

including electronic access;

and

Business Services

The corporate services which support the operations 

of the Institute are delivered by the Business Services 

Directorate. As well, the Directorate coordinates the 

strategic and operational planning and research 

activities across the Institute including monitoring 

and reporting on the Institute’s key performance 

indicators and managing the continuous 

improvement programs. This Directorate is also 

responsible for ensuring that the Institute complies 

with relevant legislation and external standards. The 

Directorate has a key role in encouraging and 

engaging people with a disability to participate in 

education and training. The following business units 

provide these services:

In 2012, the Institute had 162 full-time equivalent staff 

and 5,152 full-time and part-time student enrolments, 

including 482 apprentices and trainees. The Institute 

delivered 728,503 student curriculum hours of 

training across the 194 qualifications, courses and 

units of competency on scope.
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ORGANISATIONAL VIS ION, MISSION & VALUESOVERVIEW

Our Vision

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is recognised as an 

innovative provider of education and training 

services that contribute to regional and state 

workforce development.

Our Mission

Our mission is to provide quality education and 

training services to enable our students in the 

Wheatbelt and beyond to achieve their potential.

Our Values

Integrity

Honesty

Respect

Ethical Behaviour

Responsiveness
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GOVERNING COUNCILOVERVIEW

The Governing Council of C.Y. O’Connor Institute comprises a Chairperson, Deputy Chairperson and eleven 

members, who are appointed by the Minister for Training and Workforce Development. As representatives of 

industry and the community, the members of the Governing Council are appointed for their expertise in 

education and training, industry or community affairs and for their ability to contribute to the strategic 

directions of the Institute. The Institute’s Managing Director is an ex-officio member of the Council.

Council Members in 2012 were:

Ms Eileen O’Connell  Chair

Ms Jan Court   Deputy Chair

Mr Steven Pollard

Ms Helen Bennett

Mr Grant Arthur

Ms Debra Franks

Ms Yvonne Green     Resigned 13th March 2012

Ms Sandra Randell

Mr Paul Tomlinson

Ms Christine Storer     Appointed 29th June 2012

Mr Greg Humphries     Appointed 29th June 2012

Mr John Scott   Managing Director
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTUREOVERVIEW

Enabling Legislation

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is a Statutory Authority established under section 35 of the Vocational Education  
and Training Act 1996.

Responsible Minister

Hon Murray Cowper MLA. Minister for Training and Workforce Development; Corrective Services.

Accountable Authority

The Accountable Authority for C.Y. O’Connor Institute is the Governing Council. The Managing Director  

is the Chief Executive Officer and is supported by an Executive comprising three General Managers. 

Governing Council

Finance

Human Resources

Access & Equity

Data Administration

Research and Planning

Records

Aboriginal Services

Business Services

Academic & Innovation

Academic &  

Innovation

Community Relations

Customer Services

Academic & 

Business Development

Northern

Trades

Avon

Eastern

Southern

International Delivery

Quality

Teaching & Learning

Executive Support

Office of the Managing 

Director

Managing Director

Information Technology Library
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GOVERNMENT GOALS
PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 
FRAMEWORK

Government Goals

The State Government has developed five 

government goals to guide and assist Western 

Australian public sector agencies in developing their 

programs, polices and services. However, due to the 

range and diversity of government agencies, not all 

the goals apply equally to all the agencies. Within 

the context of the five government goals, C.Y. 

O’Connor Institute has developed and implemented 

a strategic plan aimed at increasing its capacity to 

provide quality services to its customers.

The State Government goals are:

Goal 1: State Building - Major Projects

Building strategic infrastructure that will create  

jobs and underpin Western Australia’s long-term 

economic development.

Goal 2: Financial and Economic Responsibility

Responsibly managing the State’s finances through 

the efficient and effective delivery of services, 

encouraging economic activity and reducing 

regulatory burdens on the private sector.

Goal 3: Outcomes Based Service Delivery

Greater focus on achieving results in key service 

delivery areas for the benefit of all Western 

Australians.

Goal 4: Strong Focus on the Regions

Greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure 

investment and economic development to improve 

the overall quality of life in remote and regional 

areas.

Goal 5: Social and Environmental 

Responsibility

Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a 

socially and environmentally responsible manner  

for the long-term benefit of the State.

The Institute monitors and reviews its progress against 

these goals and its strategic priorities through a 

number of means:

Indicators; and

Team.

The main contribution by C.Y. O’Connor Institute to 

the State Government’s Goals is via goal number 

four (4) Strong Focus on the Regions - Greater focus 
on service delivery, infrastructure investment and 
economic development to improve the overall 
quality of life in remote and regional areas. 

In 2012, the Institute’s activities contributed to 

achievements in Goals 1, 3 and 4. The strategic 

objectives of the Institute are set out in the 2012-2014 

Strategic Plan and are reflective of these Goals. 

Achievements against the Objectives are set out 

later in the report.

Goal 1: State Building - Major Projects

Building strategic infrastructure that will  

create jobs and underpin Western Australia’s 

long-term economic development.

Narrogin Campus

The proposal for the construction of a purpose built 

training and education facility comprising trades 

workshops; classrooms; laboratories; student 

amenities; and staff accommodation, built around 

flexible learning, has been included in the State 

Training Asset Management Plan of the Department 

of Training and Workforce Development, for 

consideration as part of the 2013 State Budget. It is 

expected that a decision on this proposal will be 

forthcoming after the State Budget.

Merredin Campus

The Institute submitted a proposal in 2012 via the 

Education Investment Fund (EIF) Regional Priorities 

Round - Stage 2 Applications, administered by the 

Department of Industry, Innovation, Science, 
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Research and Tertiary Education (DIISRTE), for 

funding totalling $6 million to construct a multi-

purpose facility to support the delivery of a range of 

agriculture and trade training, including high risk 

licence training. The Institute is awaiting a response 

from DIISRTE regarding the status of the application.

Goal 3: Outcomes Based Service Delivery

Greater focus on achieving results in key 

service delivery areas for the benefit of all 

Western Australians.

The strategic priorities for C.Y. O’Connor Institute in 

2012 were focused on supporting the development 

of sustainable regional communities. By providing 

education and training services that contribute to 

regional workforce development, the Institute was 

delivering outcomes-based services that would 

directly and indirectly benefit all Western Australians.

During 2012, the following work was undertaken to 

contribute to Government Goal 3:

The 2012 Profile-funded training targets were 

achieved (actual achievement was 99.74 per 

cent of target), with achievement in Employment 

Based Training some 16 per cent above target 

- an outstanding result for the Wheatbelt 

economy and the State in general. Overall, 

enrolments were at their highest levels in the 

history of the Institute.

Without diminishing its very strong focus on 

vocational training, the Institute has continued to 

explore with partner universities, as commercial 

activity, the delivery of higher education 

programs from the Muresk Institute for the benefit 

of all Western Australians. By the end of the year, 

negotiations were well-advanced in relation to 

finding a solution to deliver a higher level 

qualification in Agribusiness, in support of the 

Minister’s vision for Muresk to retain its iconic 

status as a centre of excellence in the delivery of 

agricultural education. In parallel, by the end of 

the year, negotiations were well-advanced with 

respect to the delivery of a Bachelor of 

Education (Primary) in the Wheatbelt from 2014. 

In the meantime, the Institute delivered a tertiary 

pathway program at Muresk in the form of a 

Certificate IV in Agribusiness.

As part of the strategic direction to position the 

Institute as an open learning institution, the 

Open Learning and Development and 

Investment Plan was implemented during the 

year. The Plan will play a key role in developing 

an accessible learning environment, for the 

benefit of all Western Australians, underpinned 

by the application of innovative technologies 

and practices to support individual participation 

in education, training and workforce 

development. Approximately one third of 

enrolments at the Institute come from people 

residing outside of the central Wheatbelt region.

The Institute continues to achieve very solid 

outcomes in relation to Aboriginal education 

and training. The Aboriginal Skills Development 
Plan was updated to maintain its currency, with 

a major focus on increasing participation and 

completion rates for Aboriginal students. This is 

important for all Western Australians and is 

exemplified by the employment outcomes 

achieved by Aboriginal graduates of the 

Certificate II in Civil Construction program 

delivered in collaboration with Macmahon.

Goal 4: Strong Focus on the Regions

Greater focus on service delivery, 

infrastructure investment and economic 

development to improve the overall quality  

of life in remote and regional areas.

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is the major public provider of 

vocational education and training in the Wheatbelt, 

providing services across an area of approximately 

155,000 square kilometres. The services delivered by 

the Institute are provided from four main campuses 

located in Northam, Narrogin, Moora and Merredin. 

These regional campuses are supported by a 

network of 42 Community Resource Centres across 

the Wheatbelt.

Examples of achievements within each of the four 

regions, and the Trades portfolio, are highlighted 

below.

Avon

The Avon region is serviced by the Northam campus, 

which is the primary training facility supporting the 

Shires of Northam, Toodyay, York, Goomalling and 

Dowerin. This campus also serves as the 

administrative centre for the Institute. Some 

achievements within the Avon region for 2012 

include:
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The Local Government lecturing team was 

prominent at the WA Rangers Conference. The 

team is recognised throughout the State as the 

preferred provider of Ranger training and 

education and team members are recognised 

as training leaders within the Industry. 

Development work commenced to expand the 

scope of Ranger training to include Local 

Government Planning and Administration.

Local Government lecturer Sharleen Jordan was 

awarded the Ambassador’s Award for her 

long-standing service to the Ranger industry. 

Over many years, Sharleen has worked to 

promote the Ranger industry at a state and 

national level, with connections and partnerships 

across the world. For example, during 2012, 

Sharleen continued to work with international 

partners in the Malaysian Government, 

expanding the delivery of training in dog control 

and capture, and animal behaviour and control. 

The partnership is expanding into the Malaysian 

community with public education programs on 

animal control, behaviour and management 

now being offered.

The Education Support team worked tirelessly this 

year to finalise the Aboriginal Islander Education 

Officer (AIEO) project, in which ten AIEOs across 

the Wheatbelt have almost completed the 

Certificate III or IV in Education Support. Lecturers 

have worked to promote culturally appropriate 

training and assessment to the AIEOs, with the 

majority of the assessment being completed 

on-the-job.

With the changes to legislation coming into 

effect in 2014, education support workers in 

kindergarten and pre-primary centres will be 

required to hold a current Education Support 

qualification. The Education Support team has 

been working with the Narrogin Principals’ 

Network to provide Recognition of Prior Learning 

to 20 education support workers, currently 

employed with local schools in kindergarten and 

pre-primary centres.

The Children’s Services team has been 

developing appropriate training and assessment 

tools to meet the changes in legislation 

impacting that industry and coming into effect 

in 2014. During 2012, the lecturers attended a 

number of conferences and professional 

development seminars to ensure all learning and 

assessment materials are current and accurately 

reflecting the new changes. The changes will 

ensure that all children will get the best possible 

start in life through high quality childhood 

education and care.

A Memorandum of Understanding between the 

Institute and Perth Security Services was 

established to provide reciprocal support in the 

development of quality delivery and assessment 

strategies in the Certificate II in Security 

Operations qualification.

Northern

The Northern region is serviced by the Moora 

campus, supporting seven local government areas 

in the northern Wheatbelt. Regional training is 

delivered through established centres at Dalwallinu, 

Wongan Hills, Dandaragan, Jurien Bay, Gingin, 

Bindoon and Lancelin, and via Community Resource 

Centres. Some of the achievements of the Northern 

region for 2012 include:

The Nursing lecturing team invested 

considerable energy in preparing for the ANMAC 

audit and re-accreditation process. It is an 

Industry requirement that the Institute be 

registered to deliver the Diploma of Enrolled 

Nursing.

The Business team has had a significant increase 

in trainees, with the majority of assessment 

completed in the workplace.

The Leadership program continues to run 

successfully in the Northern region, with an 

Indigenous lecturer being appointed this year. 

The program contains a large Indigenous cohort 

and works closely with the community to 

maximise learning outcomes for the students.

The Automotive lecturer has increased the profile 

of trade training in the region through extensive 

industry and community consultation. The 

conduct of a pre-apprenticeship program, in 

particular, contributed to an increase in the 

number of Plant Mechanic apprentices.

An access and equity Gaining Access to 
Education (GATE) program was piloted in 2012, 

and was highly successfully in engaging and 

retaining students with disability. The program 
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comprised specific units from the GATE 

qualification that were reasonably adjusted to 

meet the needs of the students involved. The 

program will continue in 2013 with units chosen 

from the Leadership qualification.

A partnership was developed with the Dalwallinu 

community to more comprehensively meet the 

education and training requirements of migrants 

moving into the area. Discussion is still in progress 

to explore the vocational training opportunities 

that the Institute can provide the community.

Southern

The Southern region is serviced by the Narrogin 

campus, supporting the twelve shires of Brookton, 

Cuballing, Dumbleyung, Kondinin, Kulin, Lake Grace, 

Narrogin, Pingelly, Wagin, Wandering, West Arthur 

and Williams. Courses are also delivered through the 

thirteen Community Resource Centres within this 

region. Some achievements within the Southern 

region for 2012 include:

The Shearing lecturing team has successfully 

completed another year of the AWI (Australian 

Wool Industry) contract. Training and assessment 

skill-set programs were also run for workers in the 

Shearing Industry to gain skills to teach and assess 

others in the job, which has ultimately enabled 

them to gain further employment.

The Small Business Management lecturing team 

has successfully secured a three year, fee-for-

service contract with Serco, to deliver training in 

Small Business Management and Financial 

Services to students incarcerated within Acacia 

Prison.

The award winning HeArtworks project completed 

its three year contract in 2012.

The Stronger Rural Communities’ Recognition of 

Prior Learning (RPL) Project, jointly funded by the 

Department of Agriculture and Food WA (DAFWA) 

and the Department of Training and Workforce 

Development (DTWD), was conducted in the first 

six months of 2012. The twin aims of the project 

were to provide workers in the agricultural supply 

chain with formal recognition of work and life skills 

to enhance their employability; and to help build 

the resilience of farming communities to better 

cope with future adverse seasonal conditions by 

providing eligible participants with formal 

acknowledgement of the skills they have gained 

through work, education, training and life 

experience. Over 200 registrations were taken, 

with 153 enrolments processed in qualifications 

from Certificate II to Diploma. The project 

attracted funding of $300,000 and involved the 

delivery of approximately 60,000sch.

The Institute attracted funding in the order of 

$532,000 through the Indigenous Training Support 

Program to conduct nine programs to support the 

education, training and employment of 

Aboriginal students in the Wheatbelt. This highly 

successful program focused on courses, 

workshops and try-a-trade projects in the 

following areas: Civil Construction (two projects); 

Preparation for Work; Education Support; Shearing 

and Wool Handling; Transitioning to TAFE; Work 

Readiness; Training and Assessment; and Young 

Mums and Bubs.

Eastern

The Eastern region comprises sixteen local 

government areas and has its main campus in 

Merredin. Training is also delivered across the region 

through established centres at Kellerberrin and 

Quairading, and through the network of Community 

Resource Centres. Achievements within the Eastern 

region for 2012 include:

A sector-wide RPL project involving the Pork 

Industry was delivered from the region and this 

has articulated into a major workplace training 

program during 2012.

The appointment of a Retail Lecturer in the region 

in 2011 resulted in steady growth in Retail training 

in 2012, with the prospect of further growth in 2013.

A comprehensive VET-in-Schools program was 

delivered in conjunction with Merredin College, 

with strong utilisation of the College’s new Trade 

Training Centre.

The Heavy Duty Automotive apprenticeship 

program continued to expand with strong support 

from local industry and the Farm Machinery and 

Industry Association of WA.

Consolidation of partnerships with the Quairading 

and Kellerberrin Community Resource Centres for 

the delivery of Art programs and the most 

effective deployment of staff.

A regional Arts program culminated in a number 

of outstanding exhibitions of student art 

throughout the eastern Wheatbelt.
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Commercial activity continued to grow with 

training delivered to the agricultural, mining, 

construction and service industries in the region.

Trades

The Institute recognises the economic importance of 

the Trades portfolio to the Wheatbelt region and the 

State as a whole. The Trades portfolio was 

established as a consequence, to provide stronger 

management focus on the delivery of employment 

based training across all sub-regions within the 

Wheatbelt. Some achievements within the Trades 

portfolio in 2012 include the following:

The Trades portfolio reached a record level of 

enrolments in 2012 (involving 206,000sch) - up 

nearly 30 per cent from the previous year.

New training partnerships have been established 

with industrial enterprises, employment agencies, 

schools and prisons.

Delivery of automotive training has grown in the 

northern part of the central Wheatbelt, with 35 

apprentices in 2012, assisted by the pre-

apprenticeship programs at the Moora campus 

and in the Catholic Agricultural College - 

Bindoon.

The Narrogin Training to Work Plus automotive 

program continued to be successfully delivered 

at Narrogin Senior High School.

The school-based traineeship program in the 

southern suburbs of Perth is proving successful, 

with 30 schools and over 50 students 

participating in the program in 2012.

Heavy Vehicle Automotive delivery is growing 

steadily, with delivery of plant mechanic training 

in Merredin, and heavy machinery and truck 

programs being delivered and assessed in the 

workplace in Perth.

Fabrication courses are now being delivered at 

schools; as Recognition of Prior Learning; and as 

normal apprenticeship delivery. Students are 

attending block weeks at the Northam Campus 

and being assessed as much as possible in the 

workplace.

While the building and construction industry 

declined in 2012 across the State, the Institute 

saw an increase in the number of Carpentry and 

Joinery apprentices. There was also an increase 

in delivery within the prisons, which has led to 

Acacia prison taking on a number of Building 

Maintenance trainees in 2013.

The Civil Construction training program 

continued to expand. The program has been 

established at the Muresk Institute, with a mainly 

Indigenous cohort of students. Macmahon is 

involved with this delivery to ensure employment 

outcomes for the students.

The Certificate III in Electrotechnology was 

placed on the Institute’s scope and expressions 

of interest were being sought towards the end of 

the year for electrical apprentice delivery to start 

in 2013.

Short courses have also proved successful in 

2012, with courses being delivered in forklift, 

elevated work platform, dogging, skipper’s ticket, 

gardening awareness, chemical handling, small 

motors and white card.

CHANGES TO OUTCOME BASED  

MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

No changes were made to the Institute’s Outcome 

Based Management Framework in 2012.

SHARED RESPONSIB IL IT IES WITH OTHER 

AGENCIES

C.Y. O’Connor Institute receives its annual funding 

allocation from the State Government through a 

resource agreement (Delivery and Performance 

Agreement) with the Department of Training and 

Workforce Development. Under that agreement, the 

Institute reports, via the Governing Council, to the 

Department on its outcomes.
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2012 SNAPSHOTAGENCY PERFORMANCE

Overall Student Satisfaction

C.Y. O’Connor W.A. Average

92.7% 86.3%

2012 Training Delivery Indicators

Achievement of Training Delivery Profile (publicly funded delivery), counted as Student Curriculum Hours 

(SCH).

Planned SCH Actual SCH % Achieved

628,700 627,058 99.74%

Non-Profile, counted as SCH and expressed as a percentage of total Institute delivery.

Non-Profile 101,445(1)

% of Total Institute SCH 13.93%

Notes: 
(1) Non-Profile training activity incorporates Fee for Service training, Special Projects, Auspicing in  
Schools and tendered industry specific programs.

Cost of Student Curriculum Hours (SCH)

This indicator measures the average cost of delivery per SCH. It includes Profile and Non-Profile activity.

Cost per SCH $24.35

Notes: 
(1) Cost per SCH is calculated using the following formula:

  

Cost Per SCH =          
 Total Cost of Services

Total SCH
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INSTITUTE AWARD WINNERSAGENCY PERFORMANCE

2011 Student Graduation Awards                                

(held 20 April 2012)

Christine Martin

Student of the Year -  

sponsored by Northam Boulevard

Anna Buckley

Aboriginal Student of the Year -  

sponsored by the Shire of Northam

Tracey Eynon

Vocational Student of the Year -  

sponsored by Avon Valley Advocate

Iqbal Singh

Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Student of the 

Year - sponsored by Linley Valley Pork

Christine Martin

Regional Business Student of the Year -  

sponsored by C.Y. O’Connor Institute

Greg McAtamney

Primary Industries Student of the Year - sponsored by 

CBH

Josephine Millington

Regional Services and Lifestyle Student of the Year 

- sponsored by C.Y. O’Connor Institute Governing 

Council

Nathan Jamieson

Apprentice of the Year -  

sponsored by Northam Toyota

Wayde Brown

Trainee of the Year -  

sponsored by the Shire of Northam

Karen Vestey

James Dawson Memorial Award -  

sponsored by Essential Personnel

Dr Sak Sarangapani

Trainer of the Year -  

sponsored by WA Farmers Federation

2012 Staff Awards for Exceptional 

Performance

Sonia Hogermeer

Business Development Manager

Brendan O’Driscoll

Manager, Information Technology

Kathy Roser

Manager, Customer Service, CMIS and Bookshop

Thea Buckley

Research Analyst

Steve Adams

Lecturer Automotive

Danny Sims

Lecturer Automotive

Rosemarie Lenane

Lecturer Business

Magan Thurkle

Lecturer Nursing

2012 WA Training Excellence Awards

Dr Sak Sarangapani - Lecturer, Small Business 

Management

Finalist in the WA Trainer of the Year Award Category

2011 Regional Achievement and 

Community Awards

Hayley Holland - Principal Lecturer

Finalist in the Training and Education Award 

Category
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2012 ACHIEVEMENTSAGENCY PERFORMANCE

Achievements against the Institute 

Strategic Priorities for 2012

The following examples highlight the achievements 

of the Institute against its strategic priorities.

Strategic Priority 1 Workforce Development

Provide vocational training services that 

contribute to regional and state workforce 

development outcomes.

The 2012 Profile-funded training targets were 

achieved (overall achievement was 99.74 per cent of 

target), with achievement in Employment Based 

Training some 16 per cent above target - an 

outstanding result for the Wheatbelt economy. 

Overall, enrolments were at their highest levels in the 

history of the Institute.

Two Industry Advisory Committees are now 

operating within the Institute, with the Health 

Services Industry Advisory Committee having 

commenced during the year. The process to 

establish a third Industry Advisory Committee, for the 

Local Government sector, has commenced.

The Certificate II and III in Electrotechnology 

Electrician were placed on scope during the year, 

thus enabling Electrical pre-apprenticeship and 

apprenticeship training to commence in Semester 

One, 2013.

In further development of a regional business model, 

each Regional Director has identified a number of 

training service and product needs specific to their 

region. Armed with this information each region is 

now continuing to adapt to local demand through 

customisation of existing services and products as 

well as developing commercial delivery programs in 

response to industry needs.

Strategic Priority 2 Open Learning

Increase access to education and training 

services by providing open learning delivery 

models for regional clients and beyond.

As part of the strategic direction to position the 

Institute as an open learning institution, the Open 
Learning and Development and Investment Plan 

was launched during the year. The Plan addresses a 

key performance indicator in the Institute Strategic 

Plan 2012-2013, and will play a key role in developing 

an accessible learning environment underpinned by 

the application of innovative technologies and 

practices to support individual participation in 

education, training and workforce development.

An important outcome arising from the 

implementation of the Plan was to publish (online) a 

catalogue of online programs that are offered by 

the Institute, including programs in Business and 

Business Administration; Children’s Services; 

Community Services; Education Support; Training 

and Assessment; and Health Services.

Lecturers throughout the Institute have upgraded 

their open learning and online skills this year in 

preparation for the changeover from the learning 

management system CE8 to Blackboard - the 

Institute’s online learning platform. Lecturers 

attended workshops to up-skill and familiarise 

themselves with the program in order to migrate and 

develop their courses in the new platform. 

Blackboard promotes the open learning and 

sustainability priorities of the Institute with students 

across Australia having access to our courses.

Two externally-funded e-learning projects were 

commenced in 2012, with one being completed. 

The first project, E-xtraordinary Learning for a Digital 

Age (ELFADA), attracted $39,000 of funding to 

support the delivery of training using e-learning 

strategies to provide students with the skills required 

to participate in meaningful and sustainable work. 

The second project, E-Learning for Participation and 

Skills, attracted $42,000 of funding to increase the 

number of individuals in the agricultural sector with 

higher level qualifications through the 

implementation of an online delivery strategy. Both 

projects were designed to address skills shortage 

areas in rural and remote regions. 

Trades lecturers are beginning to use Blackboard 

and other e-learning tools to gather evidence for 

assessment of their students.

Strategic Priority 3 Tertiary Education

Expand pathways to tertiary education and 

employment by providing learning and 

educational outcomes as a tertiary institution.

Good progress was made through the year in 

relation to expanding tertiary pathways, with an 

articulation agreement signed with Edith Cowan 

University (ECU), that maps all of the Diploma-level 

qualifications offered by the Institute to various 

undergraduate degree programs offered by ECU.



24 | C.Y. O’Connor Institute

Additionally, articulation pathways have been 

identified for the Certificate IV in Agribusiness 

program with three universities across Australia, 

including two in the eastern states.

Late in the year the Institute signed a Memorandum 

of Understanding with the University of New England 

to facilitate further collaboration around articulation 

pathways into higher education programs that 

specialise in precision agriculture.

Without compromising its very strong focus on 

vocational training, the Institute has continued to 

explore with partner universities, delivery of fee-for-

service higher education programs from the Muresk 

Institute. By the end of the year, negotiations were 

well-advanced in relation to finding a solution to 

deliver a higher level qualification in Agribusiness at 

the Muresk Institute, in support of the Minister’s vision 

for Muresk to retain its iconic status as a centre of 

excellence in the delivery of agricultural education.

In parallel, by the end of the year, negotiations were 

also well-advanced with respect to the delivery of a 

Bachelor of Education (Primary) in the Wheatbelt 

from 2014. Nearly 100 people have registered their 

interest in enrolling in a higher education 

qualification in Education if delivered in the 

Wheatbelt.

Strategic Priority 4 Access and Equity

Enhance the workforce participation rate for 

equity groups by adopting innovative and 

supportive engagement and training delivery 

strategies.

2012 provided C.Y. O’Connor Institute an opportunity 

to broaden its offering to Indigenous participants 

through a series of nine practical training and 

personal development programs leading to 

increased employment opportunities for graduates. 

The Indigenous Training Support projects involved 

nationally recognised training ranging from 

introductory civil construction training and 

assistance for indigenous education support workers 

through to shearing and wool handling, work 

readiness and a young mums and bubs program.

The first draft of an Access and Equity Strategy was 

developed late in the year. This strategy aims to 

improve participation, retention and completion 

rates for Aboriginal students, students with 

disabilities, students from non-English speaking 

backgrounds and youth at risk.

An access and equity Gaining Access to Education 
(GATE) program was piloted in 2012, and was highly 

successful in engaging and retaining students with 

disability. The program consisted of specific units 

from the GATE qualification that were reasonably 

adjusted to meet the needs of the students involved.

There was also a record number of Aboriginal 

students enrolled in vocational training programs in 

the Institute in 2012 - 424 students, up from 383 

students in 2011. There were also a record number of 

Aboriginal students enrolled in qualifications at 

Certificate III and above.

Strategic Priority 5 Demand Driven System

Expand the delivery of tertiary education 

services by adopting a ‘demand driven’ 

business model.

The Institute attracted a record level of external 

revenue for the Institute was achieved during 2012, 

amounting to in excess of $1.3 million.

Student satisfaction was recorded at 92.7 per cent - 

some six percentage points above the State 

average.

The Institute had considerable input to the 

formulation of a regional workforce development 

plan, with four members of Governing Council sitting 

on the Wheatbelt Workforce Development Alliance.

The Local Government lecturing team are 

recognized as the preferred providers of Ranger 

training in Western Australia, with one staff member 

having received an industry award - the 

Ambassador’s Award - for her sustained contribution 

to training in this sector.

Negotiations have commenced with a global, 

Perth-based private training organisation to 

collaborate in attracting international students to 

complete higher education programs in Agribusiness 

at the Muresk Institute.

Strategic Priority 6 Institute Workforce 

Development

Invest in staff to position the institute as a 

leading regional provider of tertiary education 

through open learning. 

Early in 2012, the People Development Framework 

was implemented within the Institute. The primary 

focus of the Framework is to assist staff to understand 
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the benefits of, and therefore embrace the concept 

of, a learning culture which will enable the Institute 

to further strengthen its position as a learning 
organisation.

Allied to this was the release during the year of the 

Institute’s first Workforce Development Plan. A focus 

of the plan is attracting, building and retaining a 

skilled workforce, including staff in EEO categories. It 

was pleasing, therefore, to appoint a lecturer from 

the Aboriginal community in Moora to contribute to 

the delivery of the Leadership program at the Moora 

campus.

Enrolments have increased owing to the Institute 

supporting their staff to further develop their formal 

qualifications as well as updating their industry 

knowledge and skills.

An Innovation Forum was conducted for the first 

time in November, 2012 to showcase and share the 

innovative teaching and learning practices within 

the Institute.

Strategic Priority 7 Governance

Demonstrate good governance and public 

sector improvement.

The Institute conducted a self-assessment of the nine 

principles of Good Governance to enhance the 

agency in achieving minimum governance 

requirements.

As part of meeting the ongoing Quality Indicator 

requirements of the Australian Quality Training 

Framework, the Institute provided the Training 

Accreditation Council with Competency 

Completion Data in July 2012.

Learner Satisfaction and Employer Satisfaction 

Quality Indicator surveys were also conducted in 

2012 with satisfaction results of 80.6 per cent (up from 

79.4 per cent in 2011) and 83.6 per cent (up from 79.7 

per cent in 2011) respectively.

As part of the preparations for the AQTF re-

registration audit scheduled for mid-2013, the 

Teaching and Learning Directorate completed a 

number of internal audits which assessed the 

compliance levels of delivery and assessment 

activities within the Institute. The internal audits were 

conducted by trained staff across 28 areas of the 

Institute’s business and, in addition, five internal 

audits were completed on high schools conducting 

delivery and assessment activities as part of 

auspicing agreements.

Ongoing maintenance of the Institute quality 

system, policies, procedures and forms continued 

with some 350 additions and amendments occurring 

during 2012.

Customer Feedback for 2012 included a total of six 

formal complaints concerning Institute processes, 

including training delivery and enrolment processes.

During the year the Institute developed a 

comprehensive Occupational Safety and Health 

Management Plan. The plan will set the direction of 

OSH development for the next three years. The roles 

within Human Resources were reviewed and 

realigned to support the implementation of the plan. 

The OSH Committee increased from 13 to 18 

members to broaden the level of participation, 

reflecting the significant emphasis placed on OSH 

by the Executive.

The Training Accreditation Council conducted an 

Aged Care Strategic Industry Audit in November 

and also conducted a site audit in August for the 

addition to scope of the high risk unit 

CPCCLDG3001A Licence to Perform Dogging.
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CERTIF ICATIONKEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

For the year ended 31 December, 2012

We hereby certify that the Key Performance Indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 

appropriate for assisting users to assess the performance of C.Y. O’Connor Institute, and fairly represent  

the performance of the Institute for the financial year ended 31 December, 2012.

Eileen O’Connell

Chair, Governing Council

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 

15 March 2013

John Scott

Managing Director

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 

15 March 2013
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DESIRED OUTCOMEKEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The provision of vocational education and 

training services to meet community and 

industry training needs.

The Key Performance Indicators measure the 

effectiveness and efficiency of the Institute. There 

are four Effectiveness Indicators and one Efficiency 

Indicator. The indicators show the extent to which 

C.Y. O’Connor Institute has achieved vocational 

education and training services to meet community 

and industry training needs.

Targets for the five Key Performance Indicators were 

based upon the 2012 Delivery and Performance 

Agreement; the 2012 Managing Director’s 

Performance Agreement; the 2011 Student 

Satisfaction Survey produced by Patterson Market 

Research; and the 2011 Student Outcomes C.Y. 

O’Connor Institute Report produced by the National 

Centre for Vocational Education Research Ltd in 

cooperation with the Department of Education, 

Employment and Workplace Relations. Targets were 

presented to and accepted by the Institute’s 

Performance Monitoring and Audit Committee and 

the Governing Council at their meetings in April 

2012.
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EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORSKEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Key Performance Indicator 1: Overall Student Satisfaction

To determine performance against Key Performance Indicator 1 (Overall Student Satisfaction) the Institute 

has used the 2012 Student Satisfaction Survey, conducted by Patterson Market Research on behalf of the 

Department of Training and Workforce Development. The data presented below is taken from survey 

question number 12: ‘Overall, how satisfied were you with your course?’ Students were required to rate their 

satisfaction on a scale of ‘Very Dissatisfied’ to ‘Very Satisfied’. The overall student satisfaction reported is a 

combination of ‘Very Satisfied’ and ‘Satisfied’ students.

1,563 students were contacted to complete the survey; 332 successfully responded. This indicates a response 

rate of 21.2% for C.Y. O’Connor Institute. The survey Confidence Interval is (+/-) 2.5% with a Standard Error of 

1.2%.

2008 Actual 2009 Actual 2010 Actual 2011 Actual 2012 Target 2012 Actual

CYOC Institute 91.4% 94.5% 91.8% 91.6% 94.0% 92.7%

Western Australia 86.2% 85.4% 86.3% 88.2% N/A 86.3%

Source: 2012 Student Satisfaction Survey - Training Provider Report - Overall Satisfaction, C.Y. O’Connor 

Institute, January 2013, conducted by Patterson Market Research on behalf of the Department of Training 

and Workforce Development.

Notes:
(1) The formula used to derive the weightings was changed in 2012, and all data provided above, including prior years, reflect 

the new weightings.
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Key Performance Indicator 2: Graduate Employment

To determine the Institute’s performance against Key Performance Indicator 2 (Graduate Employment), the 

Institute uses the Student Outcomes Survey, conducted by the National Centre for Vocational Education 

Research Ltd. (NCVER). It is a survey of students who have successfully completed vocational education and 

training (VET) in Australia, which includes graduates (students who have completed a qualification) and 

module completers (students who have completed part of a course, at least one unit of competency, 

without gaining a qualification and have left the vocational education and training system).

In 2012, the Student Outcomes Survey was not completed at an Institute level and consequently the Institute 

is unable to report against this Key Performance Indicator. As the survey was conducted at a national level, 

these data are able to be reported. 

2009 Actual 2010 Actual 2011 Actual 2012 Target 2012 Actual

Graduates Employed

CYOC Institute 79.3% 77.2% 85.2% 86.0% N/A

Western Australia 78.0% 79.0% 79.7% N/A N/A

Australia 77.1% 76.5% 77.1% N/A 77.8%

Graduates Unemployed

CYOC Institute 6.2% 3.7%(1) 4.7%(1) 4.5% N/A

Western Australia 10.1% 8.8% 9.9% N/A N/A

Australia 11.3% 12.4% 12.0% N/A 12.5%

Graduates Not in Labour Force

CYOC Institute 14.3% 18.9% 9.9% 9.5% N/A

Western Australia 11.8% 11.7% 10.0% N/A N/A

Australia 11.1% 10.8% 10.6% N/A 9.5%

Source: 2012 Student Outcomes Survey, December 2012, prepared for NCVER.

Notes:
(1) The figure has a relative standard error greater than 25% and therefore should be used with caution.

Key Performance Indicator 3: Student Outcomes - Achievement of Main Reason for 

Studying

This Indicator also uses the Student Outcomes Survey to determine performance against the Key 

Performance Indicator. In 2012, the Student Outcomes Survey was not completed at an Institute level and 

consequently the Institute is unable to report against this Key Performance Indicator. As the survey was 

conducted at a national level, these data were able to be reported.

2009 Actual 2010 Actual 2011 Actual 2012 Target 2012 Actual

CYOC Institute 92.7% 93.7% 90.8% 92.0% N/A

Western Australia 87.1% 86.7% 87.5% N/A N/A

Australia 85.9% 85.1% 85.8% N/A 84.8%

Source: 2012 Student Outcomes Survey, December 2012, prepared for NCVER.
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Key Performance Indicator 4: Achievement of Institute Profile

The achievement of Institute Profile hours is a performance measure that demonstrates the effectiveness of 

the Institute in meeting planned vocational education and training services while addressing community 

and industry needs. The Institute Profile is identified in the Delivery and Performance Agreement entered into 

with the Department of Training and Workforce Development (DTWD) each year.

Achievement of Institute Profile compares planned Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) with achieved SCH. In 

2012 the Institute and DTWD agreed on a Profile target of 628,700 SCH, and the Institute achieved 99.74% of 

this target.

YEAR Planned SCH Achieved SCH % Achieved

2006 546,405 496,214 90.81%

2007 500,145 504,754 100.92%

2008 562,745 542,554 96.41%

2009 561,404 561,433 100.01%

2010 569,500 552,104 96.95%

2011 631,900 621,404 98.34%

2012 628,700 627,058 99.74%

Source: Verified Institute Census Data 2013.

Industry Groups

The following table provides details of the distribution of the Institute’s Profile delivery, by Student Curriculum 

Hours, in Industry Groups specified by the Department of Training and Workforce Development.

Industry Group SCH Delivered 
2009

SCH Delivered 
2010

SCH Delivered 
2011

SCH Planned 
2012(1)

SCH Delivered 
2012

Variance

01A Recreation Sports 
and Entertainment

10,149 14,620 2,192 1,000 340 -660

01B Visual and 
Performing Arts

25,470 30,405 33,460 31,300 26,694 -4,606

01C Design 0 0 0 0 0 0

02A Automotive 18,128 34,415 39,603 39,450 48,869 9,419

03A Building and 
Construction

51,257 51,626 62,429 53,500 83,780 30,280

03B Surveying and 
Building

3,220 1,200 1,130 1,600 360 -1,240

04A Community Service 
Workers

56,438 44,640 49,190 42,100 27,243 -14,857

04B Education and 
Childcare

57,724 50,375 59,715 68,300 53,570 -14,730

04C Health 38,821 64,560 82,660 83,700 74,631 -9,069

04D Library Workers 0 0 0 0 0 0

05A Finance Insurance 
Property Service 
Workers

0 0 0 2,600 1,956 -644

06A Food Trades and 
Processing

0 0 0 0 0 0

07A Clothing Footwear 
and Soft Furnishings

4,130 1,790 0 0 0 0

07B Furniture 
Manufacture

10,527 6,885 4,086 6,600 9,434 2,834



Annual Report 2012 | 31

08A Communications 0 0 0 0 0 0

08B Printing and 
Publishing

0 0 0 0 0 0

09A Engineering and 
Drafting

648 1,686 3,398 700 18 -682

09B Metal and Mining 26,472 19,697 28,149 26,700 40,194 13,494

10A Animal Care 0 0 0 0 0 0

10B Forestry, Farming and 
Landcare

81,772 60,654 85,809 84,240 107,627 23,387

10C Fishing 0 0 0 0 0 0

10D Horticulture 13,362 10,442 5,426 3,600 4,984 1,384

11A Process 
Manufacturing

0 0 0 0 0 0

12A Personal Service 950 0 0 500 2,140 1,640

12B Retail 3,274 5,880 2,680 5,300 2,760 -2,540

13A Cooking 488 0 326 3,600 1,051 -2,549

13B Hospitality 1,187 2,676 1,854 1,850 622 -1,228

13C Tourism 470 0 0 0 0 0

13D Travel Agents 0 0 0 0 0 0

14A Transport Trades, 
Storage and 
Associated

10,080 9,680 16,640 14,500 12,720 -1,780

15A Electrical and 
Electronic 
Engineering

0 0 0 0 0 0

15B Electrical Trades 0 0 0 2,000 0 -2,000

16A Accounting and 
Other Business 
Services

6,230 6,990 5,905 14,910 7,740 -7,170

16B Management 24,706 37,003 26,815 12,690 16,355 3,665

16C Office and Clerical 64,505 54,995 68,620 70,260 64,160 -6,100

17A Computing 11,979 3,980 3,350 3,000 2,340 -660

18A Science and 
Technical Workers

546 0 0 1,500 0 -1,500

19A ACE 0 0 0 0 0 0

19B Adult Literacy/ESL 24,655 27,280 25,450 34,800 24,235 -10,565

19C Languages 0 0 0 0 0 0

19D Miscellaneous 0 0 0 0 0 0

19E Targeted Access and 
Participation Courses

14,205 10,625 12,517 18,400 13,235 -5,165

TOTAL SCH 561,433 552,104 621,404 628,700 627,058 -1,642

Source: 2012 Delivery and Performance Agreement for C.Y. O’Connor Institute, Addendum Number 2, page 4  
and Verified Census Data 2013.

Notes: 
(1) The Institute Profile target was originally 631,900 SCH, however the Efficiency Dividend reduced the target to 628,900 SCH. The 
Industry Group targets changed with each addendum to meet the vocational education and training needs of the 
community and industry. The information used above comes from the second Addendum to the DPA for 2012.
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Non-Profile Delivery

As stated above, Profile Delivery refers to the SCH funded through the DPA negotiated with the Department 

of Training and Workforce Development. Non-Profile Delivery refers to all training that is not funded through 

the DPA. To meet the full range of training required by community and industry, the Institute delivers a range 

of programs that are not incorporated within the Institute Profile. The programs provided include commercial 

fee-for-service programs, training associated with tenders, and auspiced delivery. Non-Profile Delivery is 

presented below, with the percentage of Non-Profile training delivered by the Institute in that year.

2008 Actual 2009 Actual 2010 Actual 2011 Actual 2012 Target 2012 Actual

Non-Profile delivery 73,311 56,352 74,516 71,541 72,000(2) 101,445(1)

% of training delivery 11.9% 8.7% 11.89% 10.32% 10.22% 13.93%

Source: Verified College Census Data 2013.

Notes: 
(1) The final Non-Profile Figure includes SCH for Non-NTA - State Funded (Auspicing in Schools - 33,737 SCH), Fee for Service 
(Domestic Commercial training - 57,092), Special Projects (Tender - 10,616).

(2) The Non-Profile target of 72,000 SCH was established as part of the 2012 Institute Business Planning process. It was presented 
and endorsed by the Performance Monitoring and Audit Committee and Governing Council in April 2012.
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Key Performance Indicator 5: Cost per Student Curriculum Hour (SCH)

Cost per SCH delivered is a performance measure that demonstrates the efficiency of the Institute in 

providing vocational education and training services to meet community and industry needs.

The Cost per SCH measure shows the overall unit cost per SCH delivered through both Profile and  

Non-Profile activities, based on the Total Cost of Services, as detailed in the 2012 Financial Statements.

The Cost per SCH delivered in 2012 was $24.35.

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Target(1) 2012

Total Cost of Services $13,430,466 $14,631,132 $16,868,588 $18,783,626 $16,211,236 $17,737,743

Total SCH Delivered 615,865 617,785 626,620 692,945 703,900 728,503(2)

Total Cost per SCH 

Delivered

$21.81 $23.68 $26.92 $27.11 $23.03 $24.35

Notes: 
(1) The 2012 target Cost per SCH Target is based upon the Section 40 estimate submission to the Minister for Training and 
Workforce Development.

(2) Total SCH is derived from Achieved Profile of 627,058 SCH and Non-Profile Delivery of 101,445 SCH.

EFF IC IENCY INDICATORKEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS



34 | C.Y. O’Connor Institute

The significant issues and trends outlined here are relevant to both C Y O’Connor Institute and the 

vocational education and training sector in the Wheatbelt.

A partnership with the Muresk Institute continued to provide significant opportunities in the vocational 
training and higher education sectors. The Institute commenced delivery of a tertiary pathway program 
at Muresk - the Certificate IV in Agribusiness - and in parallel, continued negotiations in order to 
implement a higher education program in Agribusiness. Toward the end of the period, an in-principle 
agreement was reached with Charles Sturt University to deliver a three-year Bachelor of Agricultural 
Business Management degree from 2014.

Leveraging off the work commenced in 2011, the Institute continued to develop its capability for cross-
sectoral training, by giving people who had traditionally drawn their employment from the agricultural 
sector the opportunity to gain additional skills to enable them to seek employment in the mining sector. 
A Certificate II in Civil Construction program was also delivered at Muresk; the Certificate III in 
Electrotechnology Electrician course was placed on scope; and the range of courses that underpin the 
award of high-risk licences was expanded.

The Wheatbelt Workforce Development Plan was launched by the Director General, Department of 
Training and Workforce Development late in the year. The Plan provides the framework for cross-agency 
collaboration in addressing a wide range of inter-connecting factors that impact upon the development 
of a skilled workforce in the Wheatbelt.

The Institute has a significant role in developing Aboriginal people within the Wheatbelt to enhance their 
competitiveness for employment and thus economic independence. The Aboriginal Skills Development 
Plan 2012-2014 provides a framework for the Institute to undertake a range of initiatives to attract 
Aboriginal people to undertake vocational training, and support them during their training journey. The 
Indigenous Training Support initiative, implemented in the second quarter of 2012, involved the delivery 
of nine projects in parallel and resulted in significant levels of new enrolments.

As part of the strategic direction to position the Institute as an open learning institution, the Open 
Learning and Development and Investment Plan was implemented during the year. The Plan addresses 
a key performance indicator in the Institute Strategic Plan 2012-2014, and will play a key role in 
developing an accessible learning environment underpinned by the application of innovative 
technologies and practices to support individual participation in education, training and workforce 
development.

Good progress was made in relation to expanding tertiary pathways, with an articulation agreement 
signed with Edith Cowan University (ECU), which maps all of the Diploma-level qualifications offered by 
the Institute to various undergraduate degree programs offered by ECU. Additionally, articulation 
pathways have been identified for the Certificate IV in Agribusiness program with three universities 
across Australia, including two in the eastern states. Late in the year the Institute signed a Memorandum 
of Understanding with the University of New England to facilitate further collaboration around 
articulation pathways.

Some important organisational development work was completed in three areas to build further 
capacity within the Institute. The first involves the launch of the People Development Framework. The 
primary focus of the Framework is to assist staff to understand the benefits of, and therefore embrace the 
concept of, a learning culture which will enable the Institute to further strengthen its position as a 
learning organisation. The second piece of work involved the development of an Access and Equity 
Strategy. This strategy aims to improve participation, retention and completion rates for Aboriginal 
students, students with disabilities, students from non-English speaking backgrounds, and youth at risk. 
The third piece of work involved the development of a Sustainability Charter. The Charter aims to ensure 
that all Institute staff understand sustainability principles and practices to envision, plan and commit to 
undertaking the changes that are necessary in order for the Institute to achieve a sustainable triple 
bottom line. 

The development of Northam and Jurien Bay as Super Towns will provide additional demand for training 
services and facilities, as the populations in these two centres expand as a result of the economic 
investment by Government. The Institute participated in consultative processes with both communities, 
and provided input to the specifications for a Community Learning Centre in Jurien Bay. A training needs 
analysis was commissioned late in the year to identify the appropriate level and location of training 
facilities to support the demand for health services training in the northern region

SIGN IF ICANT ISSUES & TRENDS
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STRATEGIC PR IOR IT IES FOR 2013

The 2013-2015 Strategic Plan was submitted to the 

Department of Training and Workforce Development 

on 5 November 2012 and approved by the Minister in 

December 2012. The key aspects from the new 

strategic plan are shown below:

Vision

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is recognised as an 

innovative provider of education and training 

services that contribute to regional and state 

workforce development..

Mission

Our mission is to provide quality education and 

training services to enable our students in the 

Wheatbelt and beyond to achieve their potential.

Values

Integrity

Honesty

Respect

Ethical Behaviour

Responsiveness

Quality

Drivers

Workforce Development

Open Learning

Tertiary Pathways

Access and Equity

Demand Driven System

People Development

Governance

These Drivers have led to the development of the 

following seven Strategic Objectives:

Strategic Priorities 2013 - 2015

Strategic Objective 1

Provide education and training services that 

contribute to regional and state workforce 

development outcomes.

Strategic Objective 2

Increase access to education and training services 

by providing open learning delivery models for 

regional clients and beyond.

Strategic Objective 3

Increase access to tertiary education and 

employment by providing flexible educational 

pathways.

Strategic Objective 4 

Enhance the workforce participation rate for access 

and equity groups by adopting innovative and 

supportive training delivery strategies.

Strategic Objective 5

Adopt a demand driven business model to enhance 

our competitiveness and sustainability into the 

future.

Strategic Objective 6

Invest in staff to ensure the delivery of quality 

services that lead to a high level of customer 

satisfaction.

Strategic Objective 7

Demonstrate good governance and compliance.
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State Legislation

Australian Crime Commission (Western Australia) 
Act 2004

Corporations (WA) Act 1990

Criminal Code

Disability Services Act 1993

Education Service Providers (Full fee overseas 
students) Registration Act 1991

Electoral Act 1907

Electronic Transactions Act 2011

Equal Opportunity Act 1984

Evidence Act 1906

Fair Trading Act 2010

Financial Management Act 2006

Freedom of Information Act 1992

Government Financial Responsibility Act 2000

Industrial Relations Act 1979

Interpretation Act 1984

Library Board of WA Act 1951

Limitation Act 2005

Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

Occupiers Liability Act 1985

Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971

Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972

Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

Public Sector Management Act 1994

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

School Education Act 1999

State Records Act 2000

State Superannuation Act 2000

State Supply Commission Act 1991

Vocational Education and Training Act 1996

Workers Compensation (Common Law 
Proceedings) Act 2004

Workers Compensation and Injury Management 
(Acts of Terrorism) Act 2001

Workers Compensation and Injury Management 

Act 1981

Federal Legislation

A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax Act) 

1999

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Act 2005

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission 

Amendment Act 2005

Age Discrimination Act 2004

Archives Act 1983

Copyright Act 1968

Copyright Amendment (Digital Agenda) Act 

2000

Cybercrime Act 2001

Disability Discrimination Act 1992

Equal Employment Opportunity Act 1987

Freedom of Information Act 1982

Fringe Benefits Tax Act 1986

Human Rights and Equal Opportunity 

Commission Act 1986

Income Tax Act 1986

Indigenous Education (Targeted Assistance) Act 

2000

Industrial Relations Act 1995

Privacy Act 1988

Racial Discrimination Act 1975

Sex Discrimination Act 1984

Skilling Australia’s Workforce Act 2005

Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 

1992

Superannuation Guarantee Charge Act 1992

Trade Practices Amendment Act (No.1) 2001

Workplace Relations Act 1996

LEGISLATION IMPACTING  

ON THE INSTITUTEDISCLOSURES & COMPLIANCE
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVESDISCLOSURES & COMPLIANCE

The Minister for Training and Workforce Development issued a Ministerial Directive, comprising eleven 

elements, on 20 September, 2011 to the Managing Director of C.Y. O’Connor Institute, to be implemented in 

2011 and 2012. The elements comprised:

1.  Establish a pathways program with the Department of Education’s Agricultural Colleges to attract their 

graduates to the Muresk Institute in 2012.

2.  Identify selected components from the suite of 25 agricultural programs available through C.Y. O’Connor 

Institute for delivery in 2012 at the Muresk Institute. It is understood that the majority of these will be run as 

traineeship programs.

3.  Continue to examine the development of a Certificate IV level program in Agribusiness at Muresk for 2012 

and work with industry to address their concerns.

4.  By the start of 2012, establish one or more delivery partnerships with the metropolitan State Training 

Providers utilising unused profile funding from their budgets.

5.  Develop a Certificate II in Equine Industries for delivery in 2012 at the Muresk Institute.

6.  Reach a franchising agreement with Curtin University to deliver at least one higher education agricultural 

program at the Muresk Institute from the start of the 2012 academic year.

7.  Explore the potential of franchising suitable higher education programs with other WA universities.

8.  Examine the feasibility of offering a foundation program at the Muresk Institute in collaboration with one 

or more of the WA universities which will prepare people for direct entry to their programs. The generic 

program to be offered to a wide range of students, including students graduating from agricultural colleges, 

who do not have the grades to gain direct entry to university. This program should be offered from the start 

of 2012 on a fee-for-service basis.

9.  Work with the Managing Director Muresk Redevelopment in developing strategic alliances with local, 

state and national agricultural companies and related organisations.

10.  In the second half of 2011, work with Education and Training International in exploring the potential of 

overseas students attending the Muresk Institute in niche program areas related to agriculture and farming 

with a view to commencing fee-for-service activities during 2012.

11.  Development of new course offerings to be funded through C.Y. O’Connor Institute’s current resources in 

keeping with the current practice and expectations of all State Training Providers.
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STAFF ING OVERVIEWDISCLOSURES & COMPLIANCE

C.Y. O’Connor Institute employs staff in lecturing and non-lecturing roles including administration and 

support. The average number of full time staff is detailed below:

2011 2012

Staff 163.5 162

FTE 132.75 131.75

 

Professional and Career Development (PACD)

During 2012, records reflect 466 staff participation events involving a total of 147 different PACD activities. In 

addition, a number of targeted PACD activities were conducted during the year, including:

Whole of Institute Orientation Day;

Lecturers’ Orientation Day;

Innovation Workshop;

Blackboard 9.1 Workshops;

Professional Development Forum;

AQTF Roadshows; and

Certificate IV in Training and Assessment (TAE) Upgrade Project.

Accountable and Ethical Decision Making Framework (AEDM)

In February 2010 the Institute facilitated access to six units for the Accountable and Ethical Decision Making 

Framework as an online learning program to all Institute staff. By the close of 2012, a cumulative total of 117 

staff have successfully completed all units.
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GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURESDISCLOSURES & COMPLIANCE

Public Interest Disclosure Statement

The Public Interest Disclosure Act (2003) came into effect on 1 July 2003, requiring the Institute to:

The policy details internal procedures relating to the Institute’s obligations under the Act, and the protection 

for persons who make disclosures under the Act. This Public Interest Disclosure function is delegated to the 

office of the Director, People and Performance. 

No Public Interest Disclosure requests were reported during 2012.

Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement

Section 102 of the Public Sector Management Act (1994) obligates staff to avoid placing themselves in 

situations which could result in a conflict of interest for the Institute. Conflict of interest occurs when:

Institute if this could be interpreted as creating an obligation to that person.

Conflicts of Interest were reported by the following members of Governing Council during 2012:

No Gifts were reported during 2012.

At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no Senior Officers or firms of 

which Senior Officers are members, or entities in which Senior Officers have substantial interests, had any 

interests in existing or proposed contracts with C.Y. O’Connor Institute.
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ADVERTIS INGDISCLOSURES & COMPLIANCE

Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, requires the Institute to report on expenditure incurred during the 

financial year in relation to advertising agencies, market research organisations, polling organisations, direct 

mail organisations and media advertising organisations.

The total expenditure for 2012 was $84,685.49.

Expenditure was incurred as follows:

Category Name of Organisation/s Amount of Expenditure

Advertising Agencies AdCorp $18,090.77

Market Research Organisations

Polling Organisations

Direct Mail Organisations

Media Advertising Organisations Media Decisions (OMD) 

Other Media Organisations

$52,806.88

$13,787.84

TOTAL: $84,685.49

Advertising and Sponsorship

The Institute was successful in securing sponsorship for some of its publications and awards. Details of this 

sponsorship are as follows:

Graduation Sponsorship

Northam Boulevard  Student of the Year

Shire of Northam  Aboriginal Student of the Year and Trainee of the Year

Northam Toyota  Apprentice of the Year

Essential Personnel  James Dawson Award

CBH Group   Primary Industries Student of the Year

Avon Valley Advocate Vocational Student of the Year

Linley Valley Pork  Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Student of the Year

WA Farmers Federation Trainer of the Year

VET in Schools Publication Sponsorship

Country Women’s Association

Directions

Department of Agriculture and Food

Aboriginal Workforce Development Centre

Farm Machinery and Industry Association of WA

Major Publications in 2012

Strategic Plan 2013-2015

2011 Annual Report

Aboriginal Skills Development Plan 2012-2014

Course Handbook - one per semester

VET-in-Schools Handbook

Course Brochures

C.Y. O’Connor Courier (Staff/Student Newsletter) 
- one per semester

Student Prospectus

Student Diary 2012



Annual Report 2012 | 41

DISABIL ITY ACCESS &  

INCLUSION PLAN OUTCOMESDISCLOSURES & COMPLIANCE

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is committed to providing an 
inclusive environment for people with disabilities 
through ongoing improvement to its information, 
services and facilities.

It is a requirement of the Western Australia Disability 
Services Act 1993, that public authorities develop 
and implement a Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan (DAIP) that outlines the ways in which the 
authority will ensure that people with disabilities 
have equal access to its facilities and services. In 
July 2010, the Institute developed the 2011-2014 
Disability Action and Inclusion Plan (DAIP).

The following presents the six outcome statements in 
the DAIP, together with some of the achievements in 
2012 against each outcome area.

Outcome 1: 

People with disability have the same opportunities 
as other people to access the services of, and any 
events organised by, C.Y. O’Connor Institute.

Continued to apply equal access and inclusion 
principles to services and events organised by 
the Institute, including provision of an accessible 
venue for key events such as the student 
graduation; and implementation of an Event 
Access Checklist.

Provision of disability awareness training to 
Customer Service Officers, lecturers, In-Class 
Assistants and other staff through a targeted 
program of professional development.

Continued to research and procure necessary 
assistive technology and equipment to meet 
student needs.

A discrete program - Gaining Access to Training 
and Employment - for students with intellectual 
disability was delivered in partnership with local 
disability organisations - the course was tailored 
to meet the needs of students with disability, 
including students who did not have written 
language skills and students with different modes 
of communication.  The course made learning 
accessible to a group of people who would 
otherwise not be able to access education and 
training in a post-secondary environment.

Continued to deliver equity courses for students 
with disability, including the HeArtworks course in 
Narrogin, which is delivered in partnership with 
external agencies and has provided excellent 
outcomes for artists with disability and/or mental 
illness.

Institute policies and procedures were reviewed 
and amended to encompass the needs of 
students with disability.

Outcome 2: 

People with disability have the same opportunities 
as other people to access the buildings and other 
facilities of C.Y. O’Connor Institute.

The Institute made provision for a scholarship for 
a staff member to travel to Melbourne to 
undertake a Certificate IV of Access Auditing in 
order to carry out universal access audits across 
all campuses.

Identified issues through universal access audits 
and consultation processes and recorded them 
for action and resolution.

Ensured that premises and other infrastructure 
related to transport are accessible to people 
with a disability.

Developed a contractor brochure for 
dissemination to contractors to inform them 
about their responsibilities under the Institute’s 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan.

Outcome 3: 

People with disability can access information from 
C.Y. O’Connor Institute as readily as other people are 
able to access it.

Continued to develop and disseminate easy 
English material such as a guide to making a 
complaint/providing feedback.

Continued to provide information in clear, 
concise language and in alternative formats.

Continued to ensure that support staff were 
available to assist students with additional 
needs.

Ensured that learning resources were 
appropriate and accessible in a variety of 
formats to students with disability.

Developed an easy English version of the 
Institute Code of Conduct.

Continued to review and research appropriate 
and necessary equipment and resources to 
promote accessibility and participation, for 
example, audio loops and personal receivers.

Ensured that the Institute website complies with 
best practice accessibility guidelines.

Outcome 4: 

People with disability receive the same level and 
quality of service from staff at C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
as other people receive.

Provided for continuous review of accessible and 
inclusive teaching, learning and assessment 
strategies in all industry areas.
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Provided professional development and training 
in disability awareness for In-Class Assistants.

Provided customer service and lecturer disability 
awareness training across three campuses in 
conjunction with a member of the Aboriginal 
Student Services team.

Ensured that contractors and agents are aware 
of their obligations and responsibilities to people 
with disability or medical conditions.

Continued to provide reasonable adjustment to 
ensure that students with disability have similar 
access to learning as other students.

Outcome 5: 

People with disability have the same opportunities 
as other people to make complaints to C.Y. 
O’Connor Institute.

Continued to develop and disseminate easy 
English material such as a guide to making a 
complaint/providing feedback.

Supported students with developmental 
disability in the Avon region to hold student 
meetings in which they identified issues 
(including OHS issues) and used existing 
mechanisms to report issues to management.

Outcome 6: 

People with disability have the same opportunities 
as other people to participate in any public 
consultation carried out by C.Y. O’Connor Institute.

Continued to hold DAIP Steering Committee 
meetings to develop, implement, monitor and 
review the DAIP.

Continued to develop linkages and create 
pathways into the community in order to seek a 
broad range of views and invite consultation.

Ensured that all public consultations met 
minimum benchmarks for accessible 
consultation processes. This included providing 
material in a variety of formats and advertising 
the consultation processes in a range of media 
such as radio, the website and the print media.

Continued to seek a broad range of views from 
the community on disability and access issues 
through a variety of strategies.

Actively consulted with students with disability 
about a variety of issues via focus groups.

The Institute continues to commit to ensuring that all 
students are able to access the full range of resources, 
services and facilities.
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STANDARDS & ETHICSDISCLOSURES & COMPLIANCE

C.Y. O’Connor Institute has complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management for 

Recruitment, Selection and Appointment, Transfer, Secondment, Performance Management, Redeployment, 

Termination, Discipline, Temporary Deployment (Acting) and Grievance Resolution as well as with the 

Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethic and the Institute’s Code of Conduct.

Procedures are in place to ensure compliance. Appropriate internal assessments have been conducted to 

meet legislative requirements. During 2012, there were no breaches against any of the Standards.

A common Record Keeping Plan has been adopted across the network of State Training Providers, which 

sets out strategies for uniform compliance with the State Records Act (2000). The Institute works closely with 

other State Training Providers to review and improve record keeping processes and procedures.

In 2012, the Institute successfully made the conversion from TRIM 6 Version 2.4 to TRIM 7.1, which is the latest 

version of the software. The upgrade will allow the Institute to use TRIM to its full potential, thus creating a 

more secure database. 

The main focus for the Institute in 2013 will be fully utilising the electronic add-ons that TRIM offers within the 

Microsoft suite - particularly Microsoft Word and Microsoft Outlook. The Institute will be aiming to have this 

implemented by the end of the year, working with Administrative Assistants and Customer Service Officers 

in the first instance.

The Institute will also be introducing an induction package which includes training in the use of TRIM and a 

brief test, helping staff become more aware of their role within records management. 

RECORD KEEPING PLANDISCLOSURES & COMPLIANCE
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH,  

SAFETY & INJURY MANAGEMENTDISCLOSURES & COMPLIANCE

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is committed to achieving a workplace with zero injuries by providing and 

maintaining a healthy and safe working environment for all staff, students and visitors. In fulfilling its 

objectives, the Executive is committed to regular consultation with staff to ensure that policies and processes 

operate effectively.

The Institute has a well-established Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Committee. This Committee is the 

key conduit for consultation and communication of safety-related information with staff and has 

representation from staff and management from across all campuses within the Institute.

C.Y. O’Connor Institute provides injury management and rehabilitation support to all workers who sustain a 

work related injury or illness with an increased focus on safety and early return to work through compliance 

with the Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.

In 2011 an external audit assessment was conducted on the OSH management policies and practices of the 

Institute against the WorkSafe plan. As a result of the audit, in 2012 the Institute developed a comprehensive 

OSH Management Plan, which is currently being implemented.

Measure
Actual Results Results Against Target

2009 2012 Target Actual

Number of fatalities 0% 0% 0% Unchanged

Lost time injury/disease incidence rate 0.71% 2.27% 10% Reduction Represents 3 LTI/Ds

Lost time injury/disease severity rate 0% 33.33% 10% Reduction Represents 1 severe 

claim

Percentage of injured workers returned to work:

(i) Within 13 weeks N/A 66.66% Actual result to 

be stated

Represents 3 LTI/Ds cases

(ii) Within 26 weeks 100% 0% Greater than or 

equal to 80%

Represents 1 ongoing 

LTI/D case

Percentage of managers trained in 

occupational safety, health and injury 

management responsibilities

73% 76% Greater than or 

equal to 80%

Progressing towards 

target

 

Risk Management

The Institute has successfully embedded risk management principles into the consideration of decisions by 

the Executive Team. A risk management framework has been established to ensure compliance with 

Treasury Instruction 825, consistent with Australian Standards 4360:1999. During 2012, a review was undertaken 

of the risks to the Institute and the controls that have been put in place to manage them. As part of this 

review, a new strategic framework was developed, resulting in the implementation of a new Strategic Risk 

Register for the Institute. This register identifies the key risks facing the Institute and the controls put in place to 

minimise their impact on operations.
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CERTIF ICATIONF INANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying financial statements of C.Y. O’Connor Institute have been prepared in compliance with 

the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records, to present fairly 

the financial transactions for the financial year ending 31 December 2012, and the financial position as at  

31 December 2012. 

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included 

in the Financial Statements misleading or inaccurate.

Eileen O’Connell

Chair, Governing Council

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 

15 March 2013

John Scott

Managing Director

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 

15 March 2013

Neil McAullay

Chief Finance Officer

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 

15 March 2013
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPIN IONF INANCIAL STATEMENTS

Auditor General

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Parliament of Western Australia

C Y O'CONNOR INSTITUTE

Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the C Y O'Connor Institute.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 
31 December 2012, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity 
and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Governing Council’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Governing Council is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Governing Council
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Institute’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Governing Council, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the C Y O'Connor Institute at 31 December 2012 and 
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.
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Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the C Y O'Connor Institute during the year ended 
31 December 2012.

Controls exercised by the C Y O'Connor Institute are those policies and procedures established 
by the Governing Council to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance 
with legislative provisions.

Governing Council’s Responsibility for Controls
The Governing Council is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to 
ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of 
public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the C Y O'Connor Institute based on my audit conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of 
controls to ensure that the Institute complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and 
implementation of relevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the C Y O'Connor Institute are sufficiently adequate to 
provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance 
with legislative provisions during the year ended 31 December 2012.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the C Y O'Connor Institute for the year ended 
31 December 2012.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision.

Governing Council’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Governing Council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key 
performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Governing Council determines necessary
to ensure that the key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Governing 
Council’s preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating 
the relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent 
of outcome achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the C Y O'Connor Institute are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the Institute’s performance and fairly represent indicated 
performance for the year ended 31 December 2012.

Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements. 

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
C Y O’Connor Institute for the year ended 31 December 2012 included on the Institute’s 
website. The Institute’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Institute’s website. 
This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Institute’s website. The auditor’s 
report refers only to the financial statements and key performance indicators described above. 
It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked 
to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from 
publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial 
statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website 
version of the financial statements and key performance indicators.

GLEN CLARKE
DEPUTY AUDITOR GENERAL
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia
Perth, Western Australia
6 March 2013
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F I NANC I A L  STATEMENTS 

For year ended 31 December 2012
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The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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FOR YEAR  

ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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STATEMENT OF  

COMPREHENSIVE INCOMESECTION 40 ESTIMATES FOR 2013

In accordance with Treasurer’s Instructions 953 the annual estimates for the current financial year (2012) are hereby 

included in the annual report. These estimates do not form part of the financial statement and are not subject to audit.

C.Y. O’Connor Institute
S40 SUBMISSION
Statement of Comprehensive Income

2011 2012 2012 2013 2014 2015
 Est ACT

AUDITED Estimate 31/12/2012 Estimate Forecast Forecast
$ $ $ $ $ $

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 12,596,885 11,858,885 11,254,526 11,654,934 12,045,848 12,694,173
Supplies and services 4,197,510 3,201,088 3,672,742 3,647,991 3,593,050 3,614,867
Depreciation and amortisation expense 564,673 562,173 537,945 537,945  537,945 537,945
Finance costs 0 0 0 0 0 0
Grants and subsidies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Payments to Non TAFE Providers for VET Delivery 0 0 0 0 0 0
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cost of sales 190,363 242,112 204,913 207,372 209,861 212,379
Other expenses 1,234,194 909,151 913,236 996,069 992,686 1,010,052

0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Cost of Services 18,783,626 16,773,409 16,583,363 17,044,312 17,379,389 18,069,417

Income
Revenue
Fee for service 220,844 400,000 518,240 567,273 621,239 680,569
Student charges and fees 931,431 1,002,926 1,184,075 1,198,284 1,212,663 1,227,215
Ancillary trading 4,722 4,736 4,020 4,069 4,118 4,167
Sales 275,087 306,123 259,906 263,025 266,182 269,376
Commonwealth grants and contributions 0 0 0 0 0
Interest revenue 176,059 140,000 137,343 137,343 137,343 137,343
Other revenue 175,189 514,863 688,248 688,199 690,454 692,736

0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Revenue 1,783,331 2,368,648 2,791,832 2,858,192 2,931,998 3,011,406

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 7,211 0 0 0 0 0
Other gains 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Gains 7,211 0 0 0 0 0

Total income other than income from State Government 1,790,542 2,368,648 2,791,832 2,858,192  2,931,998 3,011,406

NET COST OF SERVICES (16,993,084) (14,404,761) (13,791,531) (14,186,119) (14,447,391) (15,058,011)

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

State funds 13,602,393 13,624,450 13,817,492 13,573,459 13,734,691 13,897,858
Assets assumed/(transferred) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Resources received free of charge 445,895 194,941 335,000 339,020 343,088 347,205
Royalties for regions 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total income from State Government 14,048,288 13,819,391 14,152,492 13,912,479 14,077,779 14,245,063

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (2,944,796) (585,370) 360,961 (273,640) (369,612) (812,948)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(450,639) 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (3,395,435) (585,370) 360,961 (273,640) (369,612) (812,948)

Gains/(losses) recognised directly in equity

Notes

Changes in asset revaluation reserve
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C.Y. O’Connor Institute
S40 SUBMISSION
BALANCE SHEET

2011 2012 2012 2013 2014 2015
 Est ACT

AUDITED Estimate 31/12/2012 Estimate Forecast Forecast
$ $ $ $ $ $

ASSETS
Current Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 1,789,826 2,513,432 2,154,924 1,794,445 1,783,546 1,736,522
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 0 0 0 0 0 0
Inventories 59,028 17,839 59,027 59,028 59,028 59,028
Receivables 186,408 152,878 211,316 211,316 211,316 211,316
Amounts receivable for services 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other current assets 93,372 21,365 224,973 224,973 224,973 224,973
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Current Assets 2,128,634 2,705,514 2,650,240 2,289,762 2,278,863 2,231,839

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 321,374 410,742 321,374 371,374 421,374 471,374
Inventories 0 0 0 0 0 0
Receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0
Amounts receivable for services 0 0 0 0 0 0
Property, plant and equipment 13,572,496 13,443,595 13,070,312 12,532,367 11,994,422 11,456,477
Intangible assets 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other non-current assets 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Non-Current Assets 13,893,870 13,854,337 13,391,686 12,903,741 12,415,796 11,927,851
TOTAL ASSETS 16,022,504 16,559,851 16,041,926 15,193,503 14,694,659 14,159,690
 
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 584,329 725,896 723,755 723,755 723,755 723,755
Borrowings 0 0 0 0 0
Amounts due to the Treasurer 0 0 0 0 0
Provisions 2,082,904 2,062,663 1,511,542 813,003 572,698 453,386
Other current liabilities 170,029 (37,794) 121,914 121,914 121,914 121,914

0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Current Liabilities 2,837,262 2,750,765 2,357,211 1,658,672 1,418,367 1,299,055

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables 0 0 0 0 0 0
Borrowings 0 0 0 0 0 0
Provisions 655,901 940,982 772,282 896,039 1,007,111 1,404,403
Other non-current liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Non-Current Liabilities 655,901 940,982 772,282 896,039 1,007,111 1,404,403
TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,493,163 3,691,747 3,129,493 2,554,711 2,425,478 2,703,458

NET ASSETS 12,529,341 12,868,104 12,912,433 12,638,793 12,269,181 11,456,233

EQUITY
Contributed Equity 2,565,747 2,565,747 2,565,747 2,565,747 2,565,747 2,565,747
Reserves 4,827,589 5,278,228 4,827,589 4,827,589 4,827,589 4,827,589
Accumulated surplus/(deficiency) 5,136,005 5,024,129 5,519,098 5,245,457 4,875,845 4,062,898

TOTAL EQUITY 12,529,341 12,868,104 12,912,433 12,638,793  12,269,181 11,456,233

Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets classified
as held for sale

Notes
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    Northam Campus
Lot 1 Hutt Street 

PO Box 498 

Northam WA 6401

Ph: 1800 627 256

Library: 9622 6740

Bookshop: 9622 6744

email: northam@cyoc.wa.edu.au

    Narrogin Campus
59 Fortune Street

PO Box 457

Narrogin WA 6312

Ph: 9881 9000

email: narrogin@cyoc.wa.edu.au

    Merredin Campus
42 Throssell Road 

PO Box 542 

Merredin WA 6415

Ph: 9081 3555

email: merredin@cyoc.wa.edu.au

    Moora Campus
242 Berkshire Valley Road 

PO Box 329 

Moora WA 6510

Ph: 9651 0111

email: moora@cyoc.wa.edu.au


